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Defendant Mohamed Abdullah Warsame ("Warsame") is charged with conspiracy 

to provide material support and resources to a designated Foreign Terrorist Organization 

and with providing material support and resources to a designated Foreign Terrorist 

Organization, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 5 2339B. Warsame. is further charged with 

making false statements in violation of I 8  U.S.C. 5 1001(a)(2). This matter is before the 

Court on Warsame's Motion to Dismiss Counts I and 2 of the Superseding Indictment. 

Warsame argues that 1/ 2339B violates the First, Fifth, and Sixth Amendments of the 



Superseding lndictmcnt. The prosecution alleged that Warsame conspired to provide and 

provided material support and resources to a FTO in the form of"currency." "personnel,'. 

and "training." See 18 U.S.C. 5 2339(A)(b)(l). 

ANALYSIS 

Warsame presents three separate arguments attacking the constitutionality of 

s 23393 and its related statutory provisions. First, Warsame contends that 9 23393 

violates the First Amendment because it restricts freedom of association and is 

unconstitutionally vague and overbroad. Second, Warsame argues that 5 2339B violates 

the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment because it imposes criminal liability in 

~e absence of personal guilt. Third, Warsame contends that the statutory procedure for 

designating FTO's under 8 U.S.C. 5 11 89 violates the First, Fifth, and Sixth Amendments 

because it deprives a designated organization of notice and a hearing, and precludes a 

defendant from challenging the validity of the FTO designation in a subsequent criminal 

prosecution. Before addressing the merits of Warsame's constitutional arguments, which 

present issues of first impression in this circuit, the Court considers the relevant statutory 

framework at issue: as well as the adequacy of the Superseding indictment and the bill of 

particulars. 

1. STATUTORY -WORK 

Congress enacted the Antiterrorism and Ef'fective Death Penalty Act ("AEDPA") 

in 1996. in an effort to eradicate fundraising in the United States for foreign terrorist 

organizations. See Pub. L. No. 104-132, 110 Stat. 1214. Recognizing the increasing 



intent to engage in terrorist activity. and (3) the terrorist activity threatens national 

security or the security of United States nationals. 8 U.S.C. (i 1 189(a)(l). The Secretary 

is not required to notify an organization that is being considered for designation as a 

FTO.' See 8 U.S.C. Q: I 189(a)(2)(A). Instead. prior to an organization's designation. the 

Secretan' must notify select members of Congress by classified communication and shall 

publish the designation in thc Federal Register seven days after the notification. 8 U.S.C. 

Q: I 8 9 ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) - ( i )  Additionally. the Secretary may consider classified information 

in making a designation. which is unavailable for review by the designated organization. 

8 U.S.C. 5 1189(a)(3)(B). As such. the FTO designation procedure does not afford a 

designated FTO an opportunity to submit or review evidence on its behalf prior to its 

designation. 

Follo\ving its designation. however. a FTO may seek judicial review in the Court 

of Appeals for the District of Columbia not later than 30 days afier publication in the 

Federal Register. 8 U.S.C. (i I 189(c)(l). Under Q: I 189(a)(8). "a defendant in a criminal 

action . . . shall not be permitted to raise any question concerning the validity of the 

issuance of such designation as a defense or an objection at any trial or hearing." 8 ' 

U.S.C. 5 11 89(a)(8). 

' In 2001. however. the Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia held that an 
organization's procedural due process rights required the Secretary to afford "entities under 
consideration notice that the designation is impending." Not ' I  Colr17cil of Resistance uf 11-arl 11. 

Dept. afS1nre. 251 F.3d 192.208 (D.C. Cir. 2001). 



Superseding Indictment and the bill of particulars. the Court finds that Warsame now has 

sufficient information to challenge 5 2339B on constitutional grounds. 

Warsame contends that the bill of particulars cannot cure an alleged pleading 

deficiency of the Superseding Indictment. and that the Superseding indictment should 

therefore be dismissed. Under Rule 7(c) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. an 

indictment must be "a plain. concise. and definite written statement of the essential facts 

constituting the 01-fens charged." Fed. R. Crim. P. 7(c). The Eighth Circuit has held that 

an indictment is "legally sufficient on its face if it contains all of the essential elements of 

the offense charged. fairly informs the defendant of the charges against which he must 

defend. and alleges sufficient information to allow a defendant to plead a conviction or 

acquittal as a bar to a subsequent prosecution." U ~ ~ i t e d  Stntes 11. Flernrr7g. 8 F.3d 1264. 

1765 (8"' Cir. 1993). 

The Court finds that the Superseding Indictment fairly infomis the defendant of 

the charges against which he must defend. Counts 1 and 2 of the Superseding Indictment 

charge Warsame with providing and conspiring to provide "material support and 

resources: as that term is defined in 18 U.S.C. 5 2339A(b)," to a FTO. While the 

referenced definition of "material support and resources" in 5 2339A(b) encompasses a 

variety of prohibited activities, those activities are sufficiently specific to inform 

Warsame of the alleged charges against him and thus to satisfy minimum due process 

requirements. CJ: Rzissell ~i United States, 369 U.S. 749, 767 (1962) (dismissing an 

indictment that alleged defendants had "refuse[d] to answer any question pertinent to the 

question under inquiry" by a Congressional subcommittee under 2 U.S.C. 5 192: but that 



Any sucli espansion of charges would deprive Warsan~e of an adequate opportunity to 

prepare his defense. 

m. WARSAME'S FIRST AMENDMENT CHALLENGE 

The First Amendment states that Congress shall "make no law . . . abridging the 

freedom of speech . . . or the right of the people peaceably to assemble." U.S. Const. 

amend. I. Warsame argues that (j 2339B violates his freedom of association under the 

First Amendment because it lacks a specific intent element and thereby imposes guilt by 

association. Warsame further challenges 5 2339B on grounds that it is unconstitutionally 

vague and overbroad. The Court discusses each argument in turn. 

A. Freedom of Association 

Warsame first contends that (j 2339B is unconstitutional because it restricts his 

First Amendment right of association. Noting that a FTO may engage in both legal and 

illegal activities. Warsame contends that 5 2339B violates his right of association because 

it does not require a showing of specific intent to further the FTO's illegal activities. As 

such, Warsame argues. (j 2339B impermissibly criminalizes mere membership in. or 

association with, a terrorist organization. Warsame further argues that 5 2339B should be 

subject to strict scrutiny review because it prohibits financial contributions that have an 

expressive component. 

It is well settled that the First Amendment "restricts the ability of the state to 

impose liability on an individual solely because of his association with another." NAACP 

v. Clniboi-ne Hardware Co.. 458 U.S. 886. 918-19 (1982). The Supreme Court has 



380 F. Supp. 2d 1134. 1145-46 (C.D. Cal. 2005) (noting that courts "must assume that 

Congress knows how to include a specific intent requirement when it so desires, as 

evidenced by $ 2339A: and that Congress acted deliberately in excluding such an intent 

requirement in $ 2339B"). Indeed, in enacting $ 2339B: Congress was concerned that 

"foreign organizations that engage in terrorist activity are so tainted by their criminal 

conduct that al7y contribution to such an organization facilitates that conduct." AEDPA, 

Pub. L. 104-1 32: $ 301 (a)(7) (emphasis added); see Hirriinnilnrio17 Law Project. 380 F. 

Supp. 2d at 1 145-46; see also Hztnin1iitario17 Lmli Projeci v. Rer70, 205 F.3d I 130: 1 136 

(9Ih Cir. 2000) ("HLP T I )  (noting Congress's concern that because money is fungible, 

"giving support intended to aid an organization's peaceful activities frees up resources 

that can be used for terrorist acts"). Finally, Congress amended $ 2339B in 2004 when it 

passed the Intelligence Reform and Terrorism Prevention Act ("IRTPA"), requiring the 

prosecution to show that a donor knew either that the recipient was a foreign terrorist 

organization or that it engaged in terrorist activities.' In sum, the Court finds that $ 

support or resources, kno\ving or intending that they are to be used in preparation for, or in 
carrying out" terrorist activities. 18 U.S.C. § 2239A(a). 

Specifically: under $ 2339B "a person must have knowledge that the organization is a 
designated terrorist organization . . . , that the organization has engaged or engages in terrorist 
activity . . . , or that the organization has engaged or engages in terrorism.'' 18 U.S.C. 
5 2339B(a)(l). The IRTPA amendment followed the Ninth Circuit's decision in H~iniatiita~-iari 
Lmv Project 11. U.S. Department ?f.l~rstice, which construed $ 23398 to require that a defendant 
know either that the organization is a terrorist organization, or that the organization engaged in 
terrorist activities. 352 F.3d 382: 400 (91h Cir. 2003) ("HLP IF) .  At the same time, Congress 
implicitly rejected another district court's construction of 23398 in Urii~ed Slales 11. A/-Ariaii, 
329 F. Supp. 2d 1294, 1299-1300, 1303-05 (M.D. Fla. 2004). A/-ill-inti had construed 5 2339B 
as requiring a specific intent to further an organization's terrorist activities: in order to avoid 
constitutional questions regarding freedom of association and the due process requirement of 
personal guilt. Id. 



Warsame argues that the Scales Court's prohibition on guilt by association applies 

both to membership statutes and to statutes that regulate conduct.' However. Scales 

sought to prevent "conviction on what otherwise might be regarded as merely an 

expression of sympathy with the alleged criminal enterprise, unaccompanied by n1111 

sigiiificarit nctiori in its support or any commitment to undertake such action." Scales. 

367 U.S. at 228 (emphasis added). In other words. the prohibition on guilt by association 

proscribes statutes that regulate conduct only to the extent that the conduct is deemed 

protected expression or association. Section 2339B does not criminalize expression or 

association. Rather. Q: 2339B proscribes action. such as providing a terrorist organization 

with currency. training. expert advice or assistance. or communications equipment. The 

kinds of activities proscribed under 5 2339B do not amount to mere expressions of 

sympathy with a designated terrorist organization. The Court thus finds that Q: 23393 

does not impose guilt by association as defined in Scnles. 

For these reasons. the Court rejects Warsame-s argument that 5 2339B violates his 

right of association under the First Amendment because it does not require a showing that 

Warsame specifically intended the underlying terrorist activity. 

Warsame further contends that the Court must apply strict scrutiny to 5 2339B 

because it regulates financial contributions to organizations that engage in some form of 

b Specifically. Warsame points to the Supreme Court's pronouncement in Scnles that 
"when imposition of a punishment on a status 01- or7 co~idicr can only be justified by reference to 
the relationship of that status 01. co17dzrct to other concededly criminal activity . . . that 
relationship must be sufficiently substantial to satisfy the concept of personal guilt in order to 
withstand attack under the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment." Scales. 367 U.S. at 
224-25 (emphasis added). 



of free expression. As noted above. under (j 23393 Warsan~e remains fiee to sympathize 

with or advocate in favor o fAl  Qaeda. Finally. any incidental restrictions on Warsame's 

freedom of expression are no greater than necessary to further the government's 

substantial interest. As discussed above. membership and association alone are not 

prohibited under (j 2339B. For these reasons. the Court concludes that 5 2339B satisfies 

intermediate scrutiny under the O'Brie17 factors. 

The Court therefore finds that (j 2339B does not violate Warsame's First 

Amendment right of association. As a result. the Court denies Warsame's motion to 

dismiss on this ground. 

B. Overbreadth 

Warsame next argues that 5 2339B violates the First Amendment because it is 

overbroad. A statute is overbroad if it "punishes a substantial amount of protected free 

speech, judged in relation to the statute's plainly legitimate sweep." Virginia v. Hicks, 

539 U.S. 113: 118-19 (2003). Because the overbreadth doctrine allo\vs for facial 

invalidation of a statute, the Supreme Court has recognized that the doctrine is "strong 

medicine'' to be employed "with hesitation." Neiv J'ork v. Ferbel-, 458 U.S. 747: 769 

(1 982). Thus: an overbreadth challenge will rarely succeed against a statute that does not 

specifically regulate speech. Hicks, 539 U.S. at 124; U17ited States v. Afshori: 412 F.3d 

1071, 1079 (9Ih Cir. 2005) (noting that (j 2339B regulates non-expressive financial 

contributions and therefore is subject to less exacting scrutiny). 



include currency, personnel, and training). A criminal statute must "-define the criminal 

offense with sufficient definiteness that ordinary people can understand what conduct is 

prohibited and in a manner that does not encourage arbitrary and discriminatory 

enforcement.'" U17ited States 11. Orcliord. 332 F.3d 1133, 1137-38 (8'" Cir. 2003) 

(quoting Kole~in'er v. Lmoson, 461 U.S. 352, 357 (1983)). A party may challenge a 

statute on vagueness grounds by arguing either that the statute is vague as applied to the 

relevant conduct at issue: or that the statute is facially vague.8 See llJoodis v. JVestork 

C1nr)i Coll.: 160 F.3d 435, 438-39 (8"' Cir. 1998). 

In an as-applied vagueness challenge: a party who has notice of the criminality of 

his own conduct from the challenged statute may not anack it on grounds that the statute 

does not give fair warning to other conduct not at issue in the case. Porker 11. Lev),, 41 7 

U.S. 733, 756 (1974). In other words, "One to whose conduct a statute clearly applies 

may not successfully challenge it for vagueness." Id.; JVoodis, 160 F.3d at 438. In a 

facial vagueness challenge, courts generally upliold a statute unless it is "impermissibly 

vague in all of its applications." Ifillage ofHofii~ari Estates v. Flipside; 455 U.S. 489, 

494-95 (1982). However, laws that implicate constitutional rights receive a more 

stringent facial vagueness test. Id  at 499. In the First Amendment context, for example, 

facial invalidation is appropriate where the law reaches a substantial amount of protected 

conduct, even if the law is not vague in all its applications. Irl.) Levyli, 417 U.S. at 760. 

Warsame argues that 9; 2339B impacts his First Amendment right of association. Thus, 

8 It is unclear whether defendant presents both as-applied and facial challenges to 
9 2339B. The Court will therefore address both types of vagueness challenges. 



camp in Afghanistan, and that Warsame remained in contact with alleged Al Qaeda 

associates after he had returned to Canada. The Court finds that the alleged participation 

in an A1 Qaeda training camp is unambiguously encompassed within the plain meaning 

of and that the tern1 "personnel" gives Warsame adequate notice of the 

criminality of attending an A1 Qaeda training camp. See Uniled Stoles v. Gobo, 220 F .  

Supp. 2d 182, 194 (W.D.N.Y. 2002) (rejecting vagueness challenge to "personnel" 

during pre-trial detention hearing, \tihere defendants allegedly attended a1 Qaeda training 

camps in Afghanistan); see also Uiiited States v. Lit7dl1, 212 F. Supp. 2d 541, 574 (E.D. 

Va. 2002) (rejecting vagueness challenge to "personnel" where defendant \+>as alleged to 

have fought in combat on behalf of the Taliban). The Court concludes that the current 

definition of the term "personnel" is not vague as applied to Warsame's alleged 

participation in an Al Qaeda training camp. 

However, allegations that Warsame remained in communications with A1 Qaeda 

associates aster he returned to Canada are not suficient, without more: to survive a 

vagueness challenge. While such evidence may be admissible at trial ibr limited 

purposes, it would be inadmissible as evidence of guilt unless the prosecution ties such 

evidence to additional conduct that would constitute provision oS "personnel" under the 

statute." 

9 Moreover. the Court notes that Congress subsequently amended 9 23398 in 2004 to 
clarify the term "personnel." and on remand the I-/ici~iai~irariori Law Prr?jec/ district court 
determined that "personnel" was not vague as applied. 

10 Because the prosecution has not specified the nature of these additional factual 
allegations. the Court will determine their admissibility at trial. 



id; cj: Lil7CIII, 212 F. Supp. 2d at 572 (finding that "personnel" is not vague as applied to 

the "hard core" conduct of participating in military activity on behalf of a FTO). Thus, 

while a defendant's intent to further terrorist activities is not required under 2339B, the 

context and objectives of the defendant's conduct, as \yell as its proximity to "hard core" 

military activity, are relevant to a determination of whether the defendant would 

understand his conduct to be prohibited under the statute. See, e.g., U~~i tedStntes  11. .ilssi 

414 F. Supp. 2d 707, 718 (E.D. Mich. 2006) (stating that "an individual who furnishes 

weaponry or equipment with clear militaq applications can claim no such uncertainty as 

to whether lie has provided 'material support' to an FTO within the meaning of Q: 

2339B1'). 

The Court is not convinced that the term "training" is so vague that Warsame 

could not have understood his conduct to be prohibited under jj 2339B. Here, the 

prosecution alleges that Warsame provided English lessons in an AI Qaeda clinic in 

Kandahar, Afghanistan, in part to assist nurses in reading English-language medicine 

labels. According to the prosecution, the nurses in the clinic attended to A1 Qaeda 

members \vho were participating in nearby terrorist training camps. The alleged English- 

language training in this case has direct application to a FTO's terrorist activities: as it 

would likely speed the healing and eventual return of terrorist militants to A1 Qaeda 

training camps. Further, the training was provided in an A1 Qaeda clinic in Kandahar, in 

close proximity to terrorist training camps. As  such, the Court finds that this alleged 

conduct is closely tied to terrorist activity, such that Warsame would likely understand 



As to Warsame's facial challenge, the Court finds that $ 2339B does not reach a 

substantial amount of constitutionally protected speech or association. As discussed 

above, 9; 2339B does not prohibit mere association or membership, but rather 

criminalizes the conduct of providing material support to designated terrorist 

organizations. Even if (j 2339B encompasses a limited amount of speech protected by the 

First Amendment, Warsame has not demonstrated that the amount of regulated speech is 

so substantial as to warrant facial invalidation. See Ut7iied Siaies v. A h l ~ o o k ,  383 

F. Supp. 2d 1056, 1066 (N.D. 111. 2005) (rejecting defendant's facial vagueness challenge 

because he failed to demonstrate that $ 2339B is unconstitutionally vague in at least a 

substantial number of cases in which it could apply). 

For these reasons: the Court concludes that the terms "currency,' "personnelt" and 

"training" are not unconstitutionally vague as applied to Warsame's conduct. Ho\vever, 

allegations that Warsame remained in communications with Al Qaeda: without more, are 

insufficient to sunlive a vagueness challenge and may be deemed inadmissible as 

evidence of guilt at trial on this basis. Similarly, allegations that Warsame taught English 

in an A1 Qaeda clinic: without more specific facts tying that conduct to terrorist activity, 

are not sufficient to survive a vagueness challenge with respect to "training." The Court 

further concludes that (j 2339B is not facially vague. For these reasons, the Court denies 

Warsame's motion to dismiss on grounds that (j 2339B is unconstitutionally vague. 



mere association \with it. On this basis, the Court finds that the requirement of a 

heightened scienter requirement under Scnles is inapplicable to 5 2339B. 

This is not to say, hoxvever: that 2339B requires no showing of scienter at all. 

Indeed, the Court must still determine whether the sho~ving of scienter that 5 2339B does 

require is sufficient to meet the due process standard of personal guilt. Section 2339B is 

not a strict liability statute. It requires that the prosecution prove that a donor provided 

material support to an organization h~in1vi17g either that the organization was a designated 

FTO, or that i t  engaged or engages in terrorist activity or terrorism. 18 U.S.C. 

Q; 2339B(a)(l). Congress enacted 5 2339B based on the finding that "foreign terrorist 

organizations that engage in terrorist activity are so tainted by their criminal conduct that 

any contribution to such an organization facilitates that conduct." AEDPA, Pub. L. 104- 

132, 5 301(a)(7). In light of these findings, Congress could reasonably have determined 

that the kno~ l ing  provision of material support to terrorist organizations should itself be 

criminalized, even if the donor does not specifically intend the underlying terrorist 

activity. See Lipmotn v. Ul7itedStntes: 471 U.S. 419: 424 (1985) ("The definition of the 

elements of a criminal offense is entrusted to the legislature, particularly in the case of 

federal crimes.") Given the inherent propensity of terrorist organizations to use any 

contributions to engage in terrorist activity, the Court finds that assigning criminal 

liability to a donor who knows the recipient is a terrorist organization, or that it engages 

in terrorism, satisfies minimal requirements of due process. 

Only one district court has concluded othenvise. See United States v. Al-rlrian: 

308 F. Supp. 2d 1322; 1339; reconsidel-ntion denied, 329 F. Supp. 2d 1294 (M.D. Fla. 



*29-30. In other \\lords: even \vhere a donor's contribution to an individual FTO member 

confers some benefit upon the terrorist organization, the prosecution must prove that the 

donor knew that the intended recipient of his contribution was a designated FTO, or an 

organization that engages in terrorist activity." 

Furlher, to the estent AI-ilrinrl is concerned with the potential criminalization of 

otherwise innocent conduct, courts have addressed such due process concerns through 

vagueness challenges to $ 2339B, rather than by engraiiing an additional intent 

requirement at odds with the plain language and congressional intent of $ 2339B. Thus, 

an additional intent requirement "is not necessary to avoid the criminalization of 

seemingly innocent minor assistance to individuals who happen to be members o f  foreign 

terrorist organizations." Pnrnchn, 2006 WL 12768, at *29. See, e.g., Snitor, 272 

F .  Supp. 2d at 359 (finding unconstitutionally vague 5 2339B's prohibition on the 

provision of "comn~unications equipment" and "personnel"); HLP 11: 352 F.3d at 403 

(striking the terms "personnel" and "training" as void for vagueness under the First and 

Fifth Amendments). 

For these reasons, the Court rejects Warsame's contention that 5 2339B imposes 

liability in the absence ofpersonal guilt and denies Warsame's motion to dismiss on these 

grounds. 

15 Whether the donor knew the recipient was a member of a FTO could, of course. be 
relevant to a determination that the donor ultimately intended the contribution to go to the 1-7'0 
itself. Nonetheless. the prosecution must prove that the donor knowingly provided material 
support or resources to the FTO. 



upon "a jury determination that the defendant is guilty of every element of the crime with 

which he is charged, beyond a reasonable doubt.'' U17iteCI Sfntes v. Gn7idi17, 51 5 U.S. 506, 

510 (1995). Under 5 1189(a)(8), ';a defendant in a criminal action . . . shall not be 

permitted to raise any question concerning the validity of the issuance of such 

designation as a defense or an objection at any trial or hearing." 8 U.S.C. 5 1 1  89(a)(8). 

However, the Court agrees with the unequivocal holdings of the Fourth and Ninth 

Circuits that the relevant element of 5 7339B is the fact of an organization's designation 

as a FTO, not the vnlidfo) of tlie designation. See Hnmn7ozid~ 381 F.3d at 331 (finding 

that "Congress has provided that the.fnc/ of an organization's designation as an FTO is an 

element of 5 7339B, but the validf/y of the designation is not") (emphasis in original); 

Afshnri, 412 F.3d at 1076. Because the validity of the designation is not an element of 

the offense, Warsame's inability to challenge the validity under 5 1189(a)(8) does not 

deprive him of his constitutional rights. The Court therefore denies Warsame's motion to 

dismiss on this basis. 

ORDER 

Based on the foregoing records. files, and proceedings herein. IT IS HEREBY 

ORDERED that Warsame's Motion to Dismiss Counts 1 and 2 of the Superseding 

Indictment [Docket No. 411 is DENIED. 

DATED: March 17: 2008 
at Minneapolis, Minnesota. 

S/ Jolin R. Tunheim 
JOHN R. TUNHElM 

United States District Judge 
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Defendant Mohamed Abdullah Warsame ("Warsame") is charged with conspiracy 

to provide material support and resources to a designated Foreign Terrorist Organization 

and with providing material support and resources to a designated Foreign Terrorist 

Organization, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 5 2339B. Warsame is further charged with 

making false statements in violation of 18 U.S.C. $j 1001(a)(2). This matter is before the 

Court on Warsame's Motion to Dismiss Counts I and 2 of the Superseding Indictment. 

Warsame argues that 5 23393 violates the First, Fifth, and Sixth Amendments or  the 



United States Constitution. For the reasons discussed below: the Court denies M'arsanie's 

motion. 

BACKGROUND 

On June 21. 2005. the prosecution filed a live-count Superseding Indictment 

against Warsame. Counts One and Two of the Superseding Indictment charged Warsame 

with conspiracy to provide and with providing material support and resources to a 

designated Foreign Terrorist Organization ("FTO"). in violation of 18 U.S.C. 5 2339B. 

According to the Superseding Indictment. Warsame traveled to Afghanistan and Pakistan 

between 2000 and 2001 and attended Al Qaeda training camps. The Superseding 

Indictment also alleges that Al Qaeda paid Warsame's travel expenses to return to 

Canada. that Warsame sent money back to an Al Qaeda associate as repayment. and that 

Warsame maintained communications with individuals associated with Al Qaeda after his 

return to Canada. 

On February 16. 2007 the Court issued an Order granting in part Warsame's 

motions for a bill of particulars. The Court determined that the charges of material 

support contained in the Superseding indictment were not sufficiently detailed t o  allow 

Warsame to effectively challenge the constitutionality of 5 18 U.S.C. 5 2339B. Tlie 

Court therefore ordered the prosecution to file a bill of particulars specifying the 

activities it contends constitute material support and resources. as enumerated in the 

statutory definition of 18 U.S.C. Q: 2339A(b)(l). On March 16. 2007. the prosecution 

filed a bill o r  particulars specifying the two counts of material support contained in the 



Superseding Indictment. The prosecution alleged that Warsame conspired to provide and 

provided material support and resources to a FTO in the form of"currency,-' "personnel." 

and "training." See 18 U.S.C. ij 2339(A)(b)(l). 

ANALYSIS 

Warsame presents three separate arguments anacking the constitutionality of 

ij 2339B and its related statutory provisions. First, Warsame contends that 2339B 

violates the First Amendment because it restricts freedom of association and is 

unconstitutionally vague and overbroad. Second, Warsame argues that ij 23393 violates 

the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment because it imposes criminal liability in 

the absence of personal guilt. Third: Warsame contends that the statutory procedure for 

designating FTO's under 8 U.S.C. 5 I 189 violates the First, Fifth, and Sisth Amendments 

because it deprives a designated organization of notice and a hearing: and precludes a 

defendant from challenging the validity of the FTO designation in a subsequent criminal 

prosecution. Before addressing the merits of Warsame's constitutional arguments, which 

present issues of first impression in this circuit, the Court considers the relevant statutory 

framework at issue, as well as the adequacy of the Superseding Indictment and the bill of 

particulars. 

I. STATUTORY FRAMEWORK 

Congress enacted the Antiterrorism and Effective Death Penalty Act ("AEDPA") 

in 1996, in an effort to eradicate fundraising in the United States for foreign terrorist 

organizations. See Pub. L. No. 104-132, 110 Stat. 1214. Recognizing the increasing 



sophistication of terrorist organizations: which often raise money for international 

terrorism under the guise of humanitarian or political causes, Congress criminalized the 

provision of material support or resources to foreign terrorist organizations that are 

designated by the Secretary of State. Section 303(a) of the AEDPA, codified at 18 

U.S.C. S 2339B, provides that 

[\v]hoever knowingly provides material support or resources to a foreign 
terrorist organization. or attempts or conspires to do so. shall be fined under 
this title or in~prisoned not more than 15 years. or both. and. if the death of 
any person results. shall be imprisoned for any term o r  years or for life. 

18 U.S.C. 5 2339~(a ) ( l ) . '  "Material support or resources" is further defined as 

any property, tangible or intangible, or service, including currency or 
monetary instruments or financial securities; financial services, lodging, 
training, expert advice or assistance, safehouses, false documentation or 
identification, communications equipment: facilities, weapons, lethal 
substances, explosives, personnel (1 or more individuals who may be or  
include onesell), and transportation, except medicine or religious 
materials. 

18 U.S.C. 5 2339A(b)(I). To violate 5 2339B, a person "must have knowledge that ihe 

organization is a designated terrorist organization . . . : that the organization has engaged 

or engages in terrorist activity . . . , or that the organization has engaged or engages in 

terrorism." I 8  U.S.C. 5 2339B(a)(I). 

Under 8 U.S.C. 5 I 189: the Secretary of State is authorized to designate foreign 

terrorist organizations if the Secretary finds that (1) the organization is a foreign 

organization; (2) the organization engages in terrorist activity or retains the capability and 

I Section 23398 was amended in 2001 under the USA Patriot Act, Pub. L. 107-56, 
S 8lO(d): 115 Stat. 380 (Oct. 26: 2001); and again in 2004 pursuant to the intelligence Reform 
and Terrorism Prevention Act, ("IRTPA"), Pub. L. 108-458, 9 6603(c), 1 18 Stat. 3762-63 (Dec. 
17: 2004). These amendments are discussed infia. 



intent to engage in terrorist activity, and (3) the terrorist activity threatens national 

security or the security of United States nationals. 8 U.S.C. Ij I1 89(a)(l). The Secreta~y 

is not required to notilj' an organization that is being considered for designation as a 

FTO.' See 8 U.S.C. Ij I 189(a)(2)(A). Instead, prior to an organization's designation: the 

Secretary must notify select members of Congress by classilied communication and shall 

publish the designation in the Federal Register seven days after the notification. 8 U.S.C. 

Ij I 19(a)(2)(A)(i)-(ii). Additionally, the Secretary may consider classified information 

in making a designation, which is unavailable for review by the designated organization. 

8 U.S.C. Ij 1189(a)(3)(B). As such, the FTO designation procedure does not afford a 

designated FTO an opportunity to submit or review evidence on its behalf prior to its 

designation. 

Following its designation, however, a FTO may seek judicial review in the Court 

of Appeals for the District of Columbia not later than 30 days after publication in the 

Federal Register. 8 U.S.C. Ij 1 189(c)(l). Under Ij 1 189(a)(8), "a defendant in a criminal 

action . . . shall not be permitted to raise any question concerning the validity of the 

issuance of such designation as a defense or an objection at any trial or hearing." 8 

U.S.C. Ij 11 89(a)(8). 

q n  2001: however, the Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia held that an 
organization's procedural due process rights required the Secretary to afford "entities under 
consideration notice that the designation is impending.' No/ 'I Cou~icil of Resistonce of Ira11 iJ. 

Dept. ofStote, 251 F.3d 192.208 (D.C. Cir. 2001). 



ll. THE BILL OF PARTICULARS 

On February 16, 2007: the Court granted in part Warsame's motions for a bill of 

particulars, finding that the prosecution's failure to provide specific charges in the 

Superseding Indictment impeded Warsame's ability to prepare an effective defense. In 

particular: the Court found that Warsame's as-applied constitutional challenge to 18 

U.S.C. 5 2339B required a more precise description of the material support allegedly 

provided by Warsame. On March 16: 2007, the prosecution filed with the Court its bill 

of particulars. The prosecution alleged that Warsan~e provided material support or 

resources to A1 Qaeda in the form of "personnel," "currency," and "training." The 

prosecution specified in subsequent briefing that Warsame allegedly provided 

"personnel" by voluntarily participating in an A1 Qaeda training camp in Afghanistan. 

The prosecution further alleged that Warsame provided "currency" by sending money to 

a former A1 Qaeda training camp instructor, and that he provided "training" by giving 

English-language lessons to A1 Qaeda members in Pakistan. 

The Court finds that the bill of particulars is sufficiently precise to enable 

Warsame to effectively challenge the constitutionality of 5 23393 as it applies to his 

alleged conduct in this case. As discussed below, Warsame's vagueness challenge to 

5 2339B requires an examination of whether the statute provides sufficient notice of the 

criminality of Warsame's alleged conduct. As such, the prosecution must set forth both 

the precise charges of material support under 18 U.S.C. 5 2339A(b)(l), as well as specific 

factual allegations of criminal conduct. Based on the allegations described in the 



Superseding Indictment and the bill of particulars. thc Court finds that Warsame now has 

sufficient information to challenge 5 2339B on constitutional grounds. 

Warsame contends that the bill of particulars cannot cure an alleged pleading 

deficiency of the Superseding Indictment, and that the Superseding Indictmen1 should 

therefore be dismissed. Under Rule 7(c) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, an 

indictment must be "a plain, concise, and definite written statement of the essential racts 

constituting the offense charged." Fed. R. Crim. P. 7(c). The Eighth Circuit has held that 

an indictment is "legally sufficient on its face if it contains all of the  essential elements of 

the offense charged, fairly informs the defendant of the charges against ~vhich he must 

defend, and alleges sufficient information to allo\v a defendant to plead a conviction or 

acquittal as a bar to a subsequent prosecution." Ui~ited States v. Fleii7ir7g, 8 F.3d 1264, 

1265 (8"' Cir. I 993). 

The Court finds that the Superseding Indictment fairly informs the defendant of 

the charges against which he must defend. Counts I and 2 of the Superseding indictment 

charge Warsame with providing and conspiring to provide "material support and 

resources; as that tern1 is defined in 18 U.S.C. 5 2339A(b)," to a FTO. While the 

referenced definition of "material support and resources'' in 5 2339A(b) encompasses a 

variety of prohibited activities, those activities are sufficiently specific to inform 

Warsame of the alleged charges against him and thus to satisfy minimum due process 

requirements. Cj: Russell v. United States, 369 U.S. 749, 767 (1962) (dismissing an 

indictment that alleged defendants had "refuse[d] to answer any question pertinent to the 

question under inquiry" by a Congressional subcommittee under 2 U.S.C. (j 192; but that 



failed to specify the precise question under inquiry). Indeed. the Court determined that a 

bill of particulars was necessary not because the Superseding Indictment was deemed 

constitutionally defective on its face. but rather because Warsame needed more particular 

allegations to effectively mount an as-applied challenge to the applicable statutory terms 

under 5 5  2339B and 2339A(b). The provision of more detailed allegations by the 

prosecution cannot no\v be used as evidence that the core allegations contained in the 

Superseding Indictment were legally insufficient as a maiter of due process. Nor  should 

the prosecution be barred from relying on allegations in the bill of particulars merely 

because they are more particularized than the allegations contained in the Superseding 

Indictment. See Uilited Stntes v. J.T/nlsh: 194 F.3d 37, 45 (2d Cir. 1999) ("While a bill of 

particulars or discovery cannot save a 'defective indictment,' where the indictment has 

been found even minimally sufficient: a court may look to the record as a whole in 

determining whether the defendant is protected from double jeopardy in a subsequent 

prosecution and whether the defendant has had an adequate opportunity to prepare his 

defense."). 

By the same logic, the prosecution may not now expand its allegations against 

Warsame beyond the alleged provision of "personnel," "training," and "currency," as 

detailed in the prosecution's bill of particulars.3 Having sought a bill of particulars; 

Warsame is entitled to rely on the bill as setting forth the sum of  allegations against him. 

The prosecution may introduce additional factual details to prove its charges at trial. It 
may not, however. add additional charges of material support on the eve of trial without formal 
approval from this Court. 

- 8 -  



Any such expansion of charges \vould deprive Warsame of an adequate opportunity 10 

prepare his derense. 

m. WARSAME'S FIRST AMENDMENT CHALLENGE 

The First Amendment states that Congress shall "make no law . . . abridging the 

freedom of speech . . . or the right of the people peaceably to assemble." U.S. Const. 

amend. I .  Warsame argues that 5 2339B violates his fieedon~ of association under the 

First Amendment because it lacks a specific intent element and thereby imposes guilt by 

association. Warsame further challenges (i 23393 on grounds that it is unconstitutionally 

vague and overbroad. The Court discusses each argument in turn. 

A. Freedom of Association 

Warsame first contends that 5 2339B is unconstitutional because it restricts his 

First Amendment right of association. Noting that a FTO may engage in both legal and 

illegal ac~ivities, Warsame contends that 5 2339B violates his right of association because 

it does not require a showing of specific intent to further the FTO's illegal activities. As 

such: Warsame argues: (i 2339B impermissibly criminalizes mere membership in: or 

association with: a terrorist organization. Warsame further argues that (i 2339B should be 

subject to strict scrutiny review because it prohibits financial contributions that have an 

expressive component. 

It is well settled that the First Amendment "restricts the ability of the state to 

impose liability on an individual solely because of his association with another." AWICP 

v. Claiborr7e I-larhvare Co., 458 U.S. 886, 918-19 (1982). The Supreme Court has 



observed that a "blanket prohibition of association with a group having both legal and 

illegal aims . . . [would pose] a real danger that legitimate political expression or 

association would be impaired.'' Scales v. United Stares, 367 U.S. 203, 229 (1961). 

Mere membership: without more, in an organization that has legal and illegal goals may 

not be prohibited or punished under the First Amendment. U17ited States v. Hamn~oud. 

381 F.3d 316. 328 (4"' Cir. 2004). Instead, a statute that prohibits association with such 

an organization "must require a showing that the defendant specifically intended to 

further the organization's unlawful goals." Id. (citing Elfirand v. Rz,ssell, 384 U.S. 11, 

15-1 6 (1 966)); see also Roilii v. Qzrl-anic Literocy Irlst., 291 F.3d 1000, 1022 (7'" Cir. 

2002) ("[]In order to impose liability on an individual for association with a group, it is 

necessary to establish that the group possessed unla\vful goals and that the individual 

held a specific intent to further those illegal aims."). 

As noted, Warsame contends that his associational rights under the First 

Amendment are violated because § 23393 does not require a specific intent to further a 

FTO's terrorist activities. Section 2339B applies to a person who "knowingly provides 

material support or resources to a foreign terrorist organization." The Court agrees that 

the plain language of 9 2339B does not require that the defendant have a specific intent to 

further the illegal activities of the terrorist organization. Further, Congress's inclusion of 

an explicit liiells rea requirement in 5 2339A strongly suggests that it chose not to include 

a specific intent requirement in 9: 2339~."ee Hzrninnitaria~i Lmv Project v. Golizales, 

4 Section 2339A(a) imposes criminal liability upon one who "provides material support 
or resources or conceals or disguises the nature. location. source. or ownership of material 
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380 F. Supp. 2d 1134, 1145-46 (C.D. Cal. 2005) (noting that courts "must assume that 

Congress knows how to include a specific intent requirement when it so desires, as 

evidenced by 5 2339A, and that Congress acted deliberately in excluding such an intent 

requirement in 5 2339B"). Indeed, in enacting 5 2339B: Congress was concerned that 

"foreign organizations that engage in terrorist activity are so tainted by their criminal 

conduct that o17jJ contribution to such an organization Facilitates that conduct." AEDPA, 

Pub. L. 104-132: jj 301(a)(7) (emphasis added); see H7rmai7i1nriar7 Laii~ Project, 380 F .  

Supp. 2d at 1145-46; see also Hzrr17ai7ila1-ia17 Law Project v. Reno, 205 F.3d 1130. 1136 

(9"' Cir. 2000) ("HLP T I )  (noting Congress's concern that because money is fungible, 

"giving support intended to aid an organization's peaceful activities frees up resources 

that can be used for terrorist acts"). Finally: Congress amended 5 2339B in 2004 when it 

passed the Intelligence Reform and Terrorism Prevention Act ("IRTPA"), requiring the 

prosecution to show that a donor knew either that the recipient was a foreign terrorist 

organization or that it engaged in terrorist activities.' in sum: the Court finds that 5 

support or resources, knowing or intending that they are to be used in preparation for: or in 
carrying out" terrorist activities. 18 U.S.C. 4 2239A(a). 

5 Specifically, under 5 23390 "a person must have lcnowledge that tlie organization is a 
designated terrorist organization . . . : that the organization has engaged or engages in terrorist 
activity . . . : or that the organization has engaged or engages in terrorism." 18 U.S.C. 
5 2339B(a)(l). The IRTPA amendment followed the Ninth Circuit's decision in Hun7anitarinr7 
Lms Projecl 11. U.S. Departnie17t qfJirstice, which construed 5 2339B to require that a defendant 
know either that the organization is a terrorist organization, or that the organization engaged in 
terrorist activities. 352 F.3d 382, 400 (9Ih Cir. 2003) ("HLP IF'). At the same time, Congress 
implicitly rejected another district court's construction of 5 2339B in Ur7ited States v. Al-ilriar7, 
329 F. Supp. 2d 1294: 1299-1300: 1303-05 (M.D. Fla. 2004). Al-AI-icrn had construed 3 2339B 
as requiring a specific intent to further an organization's terrorist activities, in order to avoid 
constitutional questions regarding freedom of association and the due process requirement of 
personal guilt. Id. 



2339B does not contain a requirement of specific intent to further an organization's 

terrorist activities. 

I-laving detem~ined that 5 2339B contains no such specific intent requirement. the 

Court turns to Warsame's contention that the statute therefore unconstitutionally infringes 

his First Amendment right of association. The Court finds that Warsame-s argument 

incorrectly assumes that $ 2339B criminalizes mere membership in or association with a 

terrorist organization. Ho\vever, 9 2339B prohibits the co17dtct of providing material 

support and resources to FTO's. As such, the statute is qualitatively different from laws 

that impose liability on a defendant "solely because of his association with another." 

Claibor-17e Har-d~sare, 458 U.S. at 918-19; Hen!]? v. Jn~i~es ,  408 U.S. 169, 192 (1972) 

(noting that "the critical line for First Amendment purposes must be drawn between 

advocacy, which is entitled to full protection: and action, \vhich is not"). Section 2339B 

does not prohibit membership in A1 Qaeda: nor does it prohibit persons from espousing 

or sympathizing with the views of A1 Qaeda, however unpopular those views might be. 

See Go17rales, 380 F. Supp. 2d at 1143-44. Simply put, "conduct giving rise to liability 

under 5 233913 . . . does not implicate associational or speech rights." Boi1i7, 291 F.3d at 

1026. In so deciding, the Court is in agreement with each of the courts of appeals to have 

considered tl~is question. See No~nmoz.rcl: 381 F.3d at 329 (4"' Circuit); HLPI: 205 F.3d at 

I 135-36 (9Ih Circuit); Boi1i7, 291 F.3d at 1026 (7"' Circuit); People S Mojal7edin Org. of 

lrn17, 327 F.3d 1238; 1244 (D.C. Cir. 2003). 



Warsame argues that the Scales Court's prohibition on guilt by association applies 

both to membership statutes and to statutes that regulate conduct.' However, Scales 

sought to prevent "conviction on what othem~ise might be regarded as merely an 

expression of sympathy with the alleged criminal enterprise, unaccompanied by a1711 

sig~7ijica~7l aciior7 in its support or any commitnlent to undertake such action." Scales, 

367 U.S. at 228 (emphasis added). In other words, the prohibition on guilt by association 

proscribes statutes that regulate conduct only to the extent that the conduct is deemed 

protected expression or association. Section 2339B does not criminalize expression or 

association. Rather, Q: 2339B proscribes action, such as providing a terrorist organization 

with currency: training: expert advice or assistance, or communications equipment. The 

kinds of activities proscribed under Q: 2339B do not amount to mere expressions of 

sympathy with a designated terrorist organization. The Court thus finds that Q: 2339B 

does not impose guilt by association as defined in Scales. 

For these reasons: the Court rejects Warsame's argument that 5 2339B violates his 

right of association under the First Amendment because it does not require a showing that 

Warsame specifically intended the underlying terrorist activity. 

Warsame further contends that the Court must apply strict scrutiny to Q: 2339B 

because it regulates financial contributions to organizations that engage in some form of 

b Specifically. Warsame points to the Supreme Court's pronouncement in Scnles that 
"when imposition of a punishment on a status or. 017 cond~rci can only be justified by reference to 
the relationship of that status or. cond~~ci to other concededly criminal activity . . . that 
relationship must be sufficiently substantial to satisfy the concept of personal guilt in order to 
withstand attack under the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment." Scales. 367 U.S. at 
224-25 (emphasis added). 



political expression. Contributions to political candidates or organizations receive 

heightened First Amendment protection because they have an expressive component and 

demonstrate the donor's association with the candidate or organization. B~rckleji v. I/aleo, 

424 U.S. 1 .  16-1 7 (1 976); A//cCo17r7ell v. Federal Elec/iorl Cor7l177 '17, 540 U.S. 93  (2003). 

However, such contributions are deemed protected political speech only when made to an 

organization "whose overwhelming function [is] political advocacy." HLP I. 205 F.3d at 

1134-35. Al Qaeda is not a political advocacy group. CJ: I-lar7lnlolrd, 381 F.3d at 328 n.3 

(rejecting argument that contributions to I-lezbollah are protected as political speech 

because Hezbollah is not a political advocacy group). The Court finds that 5 2339B's 

prohibition on financial contributions to terrorist organizations is directed not at speech 

but rather at conduct, invoking the intermediate scrutiny standard found in Unired Stales 

v. O'BI-ierl, 391 U.S. 367 (1968). 

Under O'Brier7, a statute is valid 

if it is within the constitutional power of the Government: if it furthers an 
important or substantial governmental interest: if the governmental interest 
is unrelated to the suppression of free expression: and if the incidental 
restriction on alleged First Amendment freedoms is no greater than is 
essential to the furtherance of that interest. 

Id. at 377. The Court finds that 5 2339B satisfies the four elements under O'Brier~. First, 

Ij 2339B is within the government's constitutional power to regulate interactions between 

citizens and foreign entities. Ihmrno7rd. 381 F.3d at 329 (citing Regar? I>. J4rald. 468 U.S. 

222: 244 (1984)). Second; the government's interest in preventing the spread of 

international terrorism is substantial. Id.; Reno, 205 F.3d at 1135. Third, the 

government's interest in preventing international terrorism is unrelated to the suppression 



of free expression. As noted above. under (j 2339B Warsame remains free to sympathize 

with or advocate in favor ol'Al Qaeda. Finally. any incidental restrictions on Warsame's 

freedom of expression are no greater than necessary to further the government's 

substantial interest. As discussed above. membership and association alone are not 

prohibited under (j 2339B. For these reasons. the Court concludes that (j 2339B satisfies 

intermediate scrutiny under the O'Briel7 factors. 

The Court therelbre finds that (j 2339B does not violate Warsame's First 

Amendment right of association. As  a result. the Court denies Warsame's motion to 

dismiss on this ground. 

B. Overbreadth 

Warsame next argues that 5 2339B violates the First A~nendment because it is 

overbroad. A statute is overbroad if it "punishes a substantial amount of protected free 

speech; judged in relation to the statute's plainly legitimate sweep." Thgit7ia v. I-licks, 

539 U.S. 113, 118-19 (2003). Because the overbreadth doctrine allows for facial 

invalidation of a statute, the Supreme Court has recognized that the doctrine is "strong 

medicine" to be employed "with hesitation." New )'ark v. Ferber, 458 U . S .  747, 769 

(1982). Thus, an overbreadth challenge will rarely succeed against a statute that does not 

specilically regulate speech. Hicks, 539 U.S. at 124; U17itedStates v. Afs17arii 412 F.3d 

1071: 1079 (9"' Cir. 2005) (noting that (j 2339B regulates non-expressive financial 

contributions and therefore is subject to less exacting scrutiny). 



Warsame argues that the lack of a specific intent requirement renders 3 2339B 

substantially overbroad in relation to its legitimate sweep. According to Warsame. the 

absence of a specific intent requirement in (i 2339B prohibits even those contributions 

with an expressive component. and thus sweeps too broadly. While the prohibitions of 

5 23393 may include some limited expression protected under the First Amendment. the 

Court cannot conclude that (i 2339 punishes a substantial amount of free speech in 

relation to its plainly legitimate sweep. As discussed above. 5 23393 does not 

specifically regulate membership or association. but rather prohibits the conduct of 

providing material support and resources to a designated FTO. The Court finds that 

Warsame has failed to demonstrate that any overbreadth of (i 2339B is substantial. See 

lTInm17707rd. 381 F.3d at 330 (denying an overbreadth challenge to 5 23398 despite the 

fact that it prohibits some plainly legitimate activity. such as teaching members of an 

FTO how to apply for grants to further humanitarian aims). For these reasons. the Court 

denies Warsame's motion to dismiss 5 2339B on grounds that it is unconstitutionally 

overbroad. 

C. Vagueness 

Warsame next challenges (i 2339B on grounds that the terms "currency:" 

"personnel," and "training" are unconstitutionally vague under the First and Fifth 

Amendments.' See 18 U.S.C. 5 2339A(b) (defining "material support and resources'' to 

' While the void for vagueness doctrine is founded on the Fifth Amendment guarantee of 
due process. a greater degree of statutory precision is generally required of laws that implicate 
the First Amendment. See Grq117edv. C i g ~  of Rockford: 408 U . S .  104. 109 n.5 (1972). 



include currency, personnel, and training). A criminal statute must "'define the criminal 

offense with sufficient definiteness that ordinary people can understand what conduct is 

prohibited and in a manner that does not encourage arbitrary and discriminatory 

enforcement."' U17ited States 11. Orcl7arrl: 332 F.3d 1133: 1137-38 (8'" Cir. 2003) 

(quoting Kole17de1- v. law sol^; 461 U.S. 352, 357 (1983)). A party may challenge a 

statute on vagueness grounds by arguing either that the statute is vague as applied to the 

relevant conduct at issue, or that the statute is facially vague.' See lVoodis v. l,l/esta~-k 

C n ~ [ ] ~ .  Coll., 160 F.3d 435, 438-39 (8lh Cir. 1998). 

In an as-applied vagueness challenge, a party who has notice of the criminality of 

his own conduct from the challenged statute may not attack it on grounds that the statute 

does not give fair warning to other conduct not at issue in the case. Parker v. Ley!: 41 7 

U.S. 733, 756 ( 1  974). In other words, "One to whose conduct a statute clearly applies 

may not successfully cl~allenge it for vagueness." Icl.; IVoodis: 160 F.3d at 438. In a 

facial vagueness challenge: courts generally uphold a statute unless it is "impermissibly 

vague in all of its applications." Village ofHofi11a17 Estates 11. Flipside, 455 U.S. 489, 

494-95 (1982). However: laws that implicate constitutional rights receive a more 

stringent facial vagueness test. Id. at 499. In the First Amendment context; for example, 

facial invalidation is appropriate where the law reaches a substantial amount of protected 

conduct, even if the law is not vague in all its applications. Id.; Levy, 417 U.S. at 760. 

Warsame argues that 2339B impacts his First Amendment right of association. Thus: 

It  is unclear whether defendant presents both as-applied and facial challenges to 
S 23398. The Court will therefore address both types of vagueness challenges. 



to demonstrate facial vagueness here, Warsame must show that the statute reaches a 

substantial amount of constitutionally protected conduct. Hoffi7ioli Estoles, 455 U.S. at 

497. 

With respect to Warsame's as-applied challenge: the Court finds that the statutory 

terms at issue are not vague as applied to at least some of the specific conduct alleged in 

this case. As to "currency," the Court finds that that term is not so indefinite that it 

deprives Warsame of notice as to \?that conduct is proscribed. See Ho11117ioud: 381 F.3d at 

331 (rejecting an as-applied vagueness challenge to "currency" because "[tlhere is 

nothing at all vague about the term 'currency"'). The prosecution alleges that Warsame 

sent money overseas to an Al Qaeda member to repay a loan. The Court finds that the 

statute clearly applies to the alleged conduct in this case. 

Warsame next argues that the term "personnel' is unconstitutionally vague as 

applied: noting that the Ninth Circuit in HLP I struck the "personnelt language on 

vagueness grounds. 205 F.3d at 1137-38. The plaintiffs in that case wished to advocate 

on behalf of a designated FTO before the United Nations and the United States Congress; 

but were afraid that they would be prosecuted for providing "personnel" under 5 2339B. 

Id. The court struck the term "personnel" as unconstitutionally vague because 

"[s]omeone who advocates the cause of the [FTO] could be seen as supplying them with 

personnel; it even fits under the government's rubric of freeing up resources." Id.; see 

also United States v. Satlal-, 272 F. Supp. 2d 348, 358-59 (S.D.N.Y. 2003) (finding 

"personnel" vague as applied to an attorney whose client is the leader of a FTO). Here, 

the prosecution alleges that Warsame voluntarily participated in an A1 Qaeda training 



camp in Afghanistan: and that Warsame remained in contact with alleged A1 Qaeda 

associates afier he had retumed to Canada. The Court linds that the alleged participation 

in an Al Qaeda training camp is unambiguously enconlpassed within the plain meaning 

of "personnel,"9 and that the term "personnel" gives Warsame adequate notice of the 

criminality of attending an Al Qaeda training camp. See U17ited States v. Goba, 220 F. 

Supp. 2d 182, 194 (W.D.N.Y. 2002) (rejecting vagueness challenge to "personnel" 

during pre-trial detention hearing, where defendants allegedly attended al Qaeda training 

camps in Afghanistan); see also U~iited States v. Li17dl1, 212 F.  Supp. 2d 541: 574 (E.D. 

Va. 2002) (rejecting vagueness challenge to "personnel" where defendant was alleged to 

have fought in combat on behalf of the Taliban). The Court concludes that the current 

definition of the term "personnel" is not vague as applied to Warsame's alleged 

participation in an Al Qaeda training camp. 

I3owever, allegations that Warsame remained in communications with AI Qaeda 

associates after he retumed to Canada are not sufficient, without more, to survive a 

vagueness challenge. While such evidence may be admissible at trial for limited 

purposes, it \vould be inadmissible as evidence of guilt unless the prosecution ties such 

evidence to additional conduct that would constitute provision of "personnel" under the 

statute.'' 

' Moreover. the Court notes that Congress subsequently amended $ 2339B in 2004 to 
clarify the term "personnel." and on remand the H~~n~cn~i/arian Law! Project district court 
determined that "personnel" was not vague as applied. 

10 Because the prosecution has not specified the nature of these additional factual 
allegations. the Court will determine their admissibility at trial. 



Finally, Warsame argues that S( 2339B's prohibition on "training" is 

unconstitutionally vague as applied because he could not have understood his own 

conduct to be proscribed under the statute. The prosecution contends that Warsame 

provided "training" to Al Qaeda by teaching English at an Al Qaeda clinic in 

Afghanistan. Warsame points to the Hzrn7nr7itn~-ior7 Lmv Project cases in support of his 

contention. In H1rl17o17itnrin17 Laiv Project 11. Rer~o, 9 F. Supp. 2d 1176, 1204 (C.D. Cal. 

1998): the court found "training" vague because it easily reached protected conduct in 

that case: to wit, teaching FTO members how to seek redress for human rights violations 

in the United Nations. Congress subsequently amended the AEDPA, defining "training" 

as "instruction or teaching designed to impart a specific skill, as opposed to general 

knowledge." 18 U.S.C. 5 2339A(b)(2). On remand from the Ninth Circuit, the district 

court again found "training" unconstitutionally vague as amended, noting that "it is easy 

to imagine expression that falls within the bounds of this tern;" including defendants' 

conduct of teaching members how to petition the United Nations. Hunlnr7itnrior7 Lmv 

Project v. Gol7zales; 380 F. Supp. 2d 1134: 1150 (C.D. Cal. 2005). The court further 

posited that the "result would be different if the term 'training' were qualified to include 

only military training or training in terrorist activities." Id. 

As these cases make clear: an individual who provides training to a FTO in 

support of a wholly lawful objective: such as petitioning the United Nations for human 

rights violations, is likely to be uncertain whether S( 23393 applies to his conduct. An 

individual who provides training in aid of a FTO's military activities, on the other hand, 

is much more likely to understand that the conduct is made criminal by the statute. See 



id.; c< Li17d17, 212 F .  Supp. 2d at 572 (finding that "personnel" is not vague as applied to 

the "hard core" conduct of participating in military activity on behalf of a FTO). Thus, 

~vhile a defendant's intent to further terrorist activities is not required under 5 2339B: the 

contest and objectives of the defendant's conduct, as well as its proximity to "hard core" 

militaq activity, are relevant to a determination of whether the defendant \vould 

understand his conduct to be prohibited under the statute. See, e.g. ,  United Stntes v. slssi: 

414 F. Supp. 2d 707, 718 (E.D. Mich. 2006) (stating that "an individual who furnishes 

weaponry or equipment with clear military applications can claim no such uncertainty as 

to whether he has provided 'material support' to an FTO within the meaning of $ 

2339B"). 

The Court is not convinced that the term "training" is so vague that Warsame 

could not have understood his conduct to be prohibited under $ 2339B. Here, the 

prosecution alleges that Warsame provided English lessons in an A1 Qaeda clinic in 

Kandahar, Afghanistan, in part to assist nurses in reading English-language medicine 

labels. According to the prosecution, the nurses in the clinic attended to A1 Qaeda 

members who were participating in nearby terrorist training camps. The alleged English- 

language training in this case has direct application to a FTO's terrorist activities, as i t  

would likely speed the healing and eventual return of terrorist militants to A1 Qaeda 

training camps. Further, the training was provided in an A1 Qaeda clinic in Kandahar, in 

close proximity to terrorist training camps. As such, the Court finds that this alleged 

conduct is closely tied to terrorist activity, such that Warsame would likely understand 



his conduct to be criminalized as "training" under s 2 3 3 9 ~ . "  See United States v. Sl7al7: 

474 F .  Supp. 2d 492,497-98 (S.D.N.Y. 2007) (upholding application of "personnel" to a 

doctor alleged to have provided medical support to \\founded A1 Qaeda jihadists). The 

Court therefore concludes that "training" is not unconstitutionally vague as applied to this 

alleged conduct." 

However, as with the definition of "personnel," the Court finds that mere 

allegations that Warsame taught English at an Al Qaeda clinic, without more specific 

allegations tying that conduct to terrorist activity, are not sufficient to survive a 

vagueness challenge with respect to the tern? "training." For example: an individual who 

teaches English so that patients in the clinic can teach the Koran in the English language 

is unlikely to understand that conduct to be prohibited as "training:" since such activity 

has no direct connection with underlying military or terrorist activities. Thus, the Court 

linds that the term "training" is unconstitutionally vague as applied to such conduct. Any 

such evidence would therefore be inadmissible as evidence of guilt unless it is tied to 

additional conduct that constitutes "training" under 23398. 

I I The Court notes that the record does not clearly reveal the extent to which these nurses 
relied on English-language training to effectively treat AI Qaeda members. To the extent the 
term "training" survives an as-applied vagueness challenge based on allegations that nurses used 
English-language training to treat Al Qaeda members. the prosecution will be required to prove 
these allegations at trial to show a violation of 5 2339B. 

" The Court further notes that 5 2339B excludes from criminal prosecution the provision 
of "medicine" to designated FTO's. 18 U.S.C. S 2339A. "Congress intended the term 
'medicine' to 'be understood to be limited to the medicine itself. and does not include the vast 
array of medical supplies."' Sltah. 474 F. Supp. at 495 (quoting H.R. Rep. 104-518. at 114 
( I  996)) The Court finds that the provision of English language lessons to nurses to assist in the 
medical treatment of injured A1 Qaeda militants does not fall within the statutory exception for 
"medicine..' See id. at 497 (finding that the provision of medical support to wounded Al Qaeda 
operatives does not fall within the "medicine" exception). 



As to Warsame's facial challenge, the Court finds that 5 2339B does not reach a 

substantial amount of constitutionally protected speech or association. As discussed 

above, 2339B does not prohibit mere association or membership, but rather 

criminalizes the conduct of providing material support t o ,  designated terrorist 

organizations. Even if ji 2339B encompasses a limited amount of speech protected by the 

First Amendment, Warsame has not demonstrated that the amount of regulated speech is 

so substantial as to warrant facial invalidation. See U17ired Srares v. A./ol.rook, 383 

F. Supp. 2d 1056, 1066 (N.D. 111. 2005) (rejecting defendant's facial vagueness challenge 

because he failed to demonstrate that 5 2339B is unconstitutionally vague in at least a 

substantial number of cases in which it could apply). 

For these reasons: the Court concludes that the terms "currency," "personnel," and 

"training" are not unconstitutionally vague as applied to Warsame's conduct. However, 

allegations that Warsame remained in communications with Al Qaeda, without more, are 

insufficient to survive a vagueness challenge and may be deemed inadmissible as 

evidence of guilt at trial on this basis. Similarly, allegations that Warsame taught English 

in an Al Qaeda clinic: without more specific facts tying that conduct to terrorist activity, 

are not sufficient to survive a vagueness challenge with respect to "training." The Court 

further concludes that ji 2339B is not facially vague. For these reasonsi the Court denies 

Warsame's motion to dismiss on grounds that ji 2339B is unconstitutionally vague. 



N. WARSAME'S FIFTH AMENDMENT CHALLENGE 

Warsame argues that (j 2339B violates the Fifth Amendment's Due Process Clause 

because it allo\vs criminal liability in the absence of personal guilt.'3 Specifically, 

Warsame contends that 5 2339B violates his due process rights because it does not 

require tlie prosecution to prove that he specifically intended to further terrorist activities. 

A statute offends due process if it "impermissibly imputes guilt to an individual merely 

on the basis of his associations and sympathies. rather than because of some concrete: 

personal involvement in criminal conduct." Scales, 367 U.S. at 220. Under Scales, 

punishment "based on a status or on conduct can only be justified by reference to the 

relationship of that status or conduct to other concededly criminal activity." Id. at 224- 

25. However. such a relationship "must be sufficiently substantial to satisfy the concept 

of personal guilt.'. Id at 225. 

A heightened sho\ving of scienter was required in Scales because the slatute at 

issue in that case could otherwise be read as criminalizing mere association with an 

organization that engaged in illegal activities. As discussed above, however: the Court 

finds that (j 2339B does not criminalize mere association with a designated FTO. Rather, 

5 2339B specifically prohibits the conduct of providing material support or resources to 

such an organization. In other words, 5 2339B requires that the prosecution show a 

donor's "concrete: personal involvement in criminal conduct," id. at 220, rather tllan his 

l 3  The due process argument is closely related to Warsame's First Amendment argument. 
However. the Fifili Amendment requirement of "personal guilt" is concerned with criminal 
penalties "imposed on persons who are related by status or conduct to a proscribed 
organization." while the First Amendment prohibits punishment by reason of association alone. 
H1.P 11.352 F.3d at 394-95. 



mere association with it. On this basis, the Court finds that the requirement of a 

heightened scienter requirement under Scales is inapplicable to jj 2339B. 

This is not to say, however: that $ 23393 requires no showing of scienter at all. 

Indeed, the Court must still determine whether the showing of scienter that jj 2339B does 

require is sufficient to meet the due process standard of personal guilt. Section 2339B is 

not a strict liability statute. It requires that the prosecution prove that a donor provided 

material support to an organization k17011~it1g either that the organization was a designated 

FTO, or that it engaged or engages in terrorist activity or terrorism. 18 U.S.C. 

$ 2339B(a)(l). Congress enacted jj 2339B based on the linding that "foreign terrorist 

organizations that engage in terrorist activity are so tainted by their criminal conduct that 

any contribution to such an organization facilitates that conduct.'' AEDPA: Pub. L. 104- 

132; jj 301(a)(7). In light of these findings, Congress could reasonably have determined 

that the knowing provision of material support to terrorist organizations should itself be 

criminalized, even if the donor does not specifically intend the underlying terrorist 

activity. See Lipal-ota v. Utlited States, 471 U.S. 419. 424 (1985) ("The definition of the 

elements of a criminal offense is entrusted to the legislature, particularly in the case of 

federal crimes.") Given the inherent propensity of terrorist organizations to use any 

contributions to engage in terrorist activity, the Court finds that assigning criminal 

liability to a donor who knows the recipient is a terrorist organization, or that it engages 

in terrorism, satisfies minimal requirements of due process. 

Only one district court has concluded otherwise. See United States v. ill-ill-inn: 

308 F.  Supp. 2d 1322: 1339, i-ecotrsideer-atior7 denied, 329 F .  Supp. 2d 1294 (M.D. Fla. 



2004). In A/-Arian, the district court read 5 2339B to require a showing that the 

defendant specifically intended the underlying terrorist activity, finding that the absence 

oS such a requirement rendered the statute constitutionally suspect on due process and 

First Amendment g r o ~ n d s . ' ~  Id. at 1339. The A/-Ariori court was concerned that \vithout 

an additional intent requirement, Ej 2339B ~vould criminalize wholly innocent conduct. 

Id at 1337-38. For example, the court hypothesized that a cab driver who drives a 

passenger from a New York airport to the United Nations, knowing that the passenger is 

a member of a FTO, could be prosecuted for providing "transportation" under the statute. 

Id. Warsame urges this Court to follow A/-.4rinri and strike Ej 2339B as unconstitutional. 

However, the reasoning of ill-Aria17 is not persuasive, and every other court to 

consider this issue has declined to follow it. See, e.g., Assi, 414 F. Supp. 2d at 724; 

UiiiredSlntes v. Paracl7a: 2006 WL 12768: at '25 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 3, 2006); A4arrook. 383 

F. Supp. 2d at 1070; Htrr~~ar~itai-iar7 Lnicj Projecl v. Gorimles, 380 F. Supp. 2d at 1 1  47. 

Indeed; it is unlikely that the activities described in the A/-Aria17 hypotheticals would be 

criminalized under 5 2339B: as they involve the provision of support to an individual 

who happens to be a member of a FTO. Under the plain language of  Ej 2339B: however, 

t11e government must prove that the defendant "knowingly provides material support or 

resources to  a foreign terrorist oi-gat7izafiori," rather than to individuals who happen to be 

FTO members. 18 U.S.C. 5 2339B(a)(l) (emphasis added); Parocha: 2006 WL 12768, at 

14 Congress subsequently amended 5 2339B under the IRTPA, but did not include the 
additional scienter requirement as construed by the Al-Arian court. As discussed above, the 
Court concludes that Congress did not intend to include a heightened scienter requirement in 
5 2339B. The Court therefore focuses its inquiry on the constitutionality of 9 2339B. 



*29-30. In other words. evcn where a donor's contribution to an individual FTO member 

confers some benefit upon the terrorist organization. the prosecution must prove that the 

donor knew that the intended recipient of his contribution was a designated FTO. or an 

organization that engages in terrorist activiiy." 

Further. to the extent Al-Aria11 is concerned with the potential criminalization of 

otherwise innocent conduct. courts have addressed such due process concerns through 

vagueness challenges to § 2339B. rather than by engrafiing an additional intent 

requirement at odds with the plain language and congressional intent of 5 2339B. Thus. 

an additional intent requirement "is not necessary to avoid the criminalization of 

seemingly innocent minor assistance to individuals who happen to be members of foreign 

terrorist organizations." Pal-ncl~n, 2006 WL 12768, at *29. See, e.g., Snrmr, 272 

F. Supp. 2d at 359 (finding unconstitutionally vague f3 2339B's prohibition on the 

provision of "communications equipment- and "personnel"); I-ILP 11, 352 F.3d at 403 

(striking the terms "personnel" and "training" as void for vagueness under the First and 

Fifth Amendments). 

For these reasons, ihe Court rejects Warsame's contention that f3 2339B imposes 

liability in the absence of personal guilt and denies Warsame's motion to dismiss on these 

grounds. 

l 5  Whether the donor knew the recipient was a n~ertiber. of a FTO could, of course. be 
relevant to a determination that the donor ultimately intended the contribution to go to the FTO 
itself. Nonetheless, the prosecution must prove that the donor knowingly provided material 
suppori or resources to the FTO. 



V. FTO DESIGNATION PROCEDURE 

Finally, Warsame contends that the FTO designation procedure under 8 U.S.C. 

5 1189(a) violates due process because it does not provide an organization with 

meaningful notice or judicial review of its designation. Warsame also argues that the 

statute is unconstitutional because it does not alloxv a defendant to challenge an 

organization's designation in a subsequent criminal proceeding. 

With respect to Warsame's first argument, the Court finds that Warsame lacks 

standing to challenge the FTO designation procedure on behalf of A1 Qaeda. See Snrmr, 

272 F. Supp. 2d at 364 (noting that litigants do not have standing to challenge a statute 

"solely on the ground that it failed to provide due process to third parties not before the 

courtx); see also J,'nlley Forge Chrisrinn Coll. v. A177s. U17ited. 454 U.S. 464: 474-75 

(1982) (noting that under the doctrine of prudential standing a plaintiff must assert his 

own legal rights and cannot rest his claim on the legal rights of third parties). The Court 

further notes that even if Warsame had standing to challenge the designation procedures, 

courts have found 5 1 189(a) to be "sufficiently precise to satisfy constitutional concerns." 

HLP I 205 F.3d at 1137; see nlso, e.g., ~idflrzook; 383 F. Supp. 2d at 1071 (upholding 

constitutionality of FTO designation procedures); People's Mojahedin Org. of 11-077, 327 

F.3d at 1241-44 (same). The Court therefore denies Warsame's motion to dismiss on 

grounds that the FTO designation procedure violates Al Qaeda's right to due process. 

Warsame also argues that the FTO designation procedure unconstitutionally 

deprives him of a right to a jury determination of guilt on each element of the charged 

offense. The Fifth and Sixth Amendments require that criminal convictions be based 



upon "a jury determination that the defendant is guilty of every element of the c r in~e  with 

which he is charged, beyond a reasonable doubt." U17itedSfates v. Galidin, 515 U.S. 506, 

510 (1995). Under 5 1189(a)(8), "a defendant in a criminal action . . . shall not be 

permitted to raise any question concerning the validity of the issuance o f  such 

designation as a defense or an objection at any trial or hearing." 8 U.S.C. 5 1 189(a)(8). 

However, the Court agrees with the unequivocal holdings of the Fourth and Ninth 

Circuits that the relevant elenient of 5 23393 is the fact of an organization's designation 

as a FTO, not the i~alidify of the designation. See I-lan7n707rd, 381 F.3d at 331 (finding 

that "Congress has provided that the fact of an organization's designation as an FTO is an 

element of 5 2339B, but the validity of the designation is not") (emphasis in original); 

Afsl7ni-i: 412 F.3d at 1076. Because the validity of the designation is not an element of 

the offense, Warsame's inability to challenge the validity under 5 1189(a)(8) does not 

deprive him of his constitutional rights. The Court therefore denies Warsame's motion to 

dismiss on this basis. 

ORDER 

Based on the foregoing records, files: and proceedings herein, IT IS HEREBY 

ORDERED that Warsame's Motion to Dismiss Counts 1 and 2 of the Superseding 

Indictment [Docket No. 411 is DENIED. 

DATED: March 12: 2008 
at Minneapolis, Minnesota. 

s John I<. l'unheim 
JOI-1N R. I'UNI-IEIILI 

United States District Judge 


